FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/23/2021 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

99524-9

No. 80508-8-I

Supreme Court of Washington OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(King County Superior Court No. 19-2-02755-0 SEA)

ATM SHAFIQUL KHALID, Xencare Software, Inc., a Washington corporation

Petitioner/Plaintiffs

v.

MICROSOFT CORPORATION, a Washington corporation

Respondent/Defendant

CORRECTED RAP 13.4 PETITION FOR REVIEW

ATM Shafiqul Khalid 17446 NE 28th ST Redmond, WA 98052 PH: 425-445-7157 E: atmkhalid@gmail.com

Pro Se Petitioner

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for review are:

Issue 1: Does the statute of limitation on a claim on tortious interference and recovery accrue on the fresh and appreciable injury from a new interference and tort connected to an earlier tort? (Count 5 and 6)

Issue 2: Does the statute of limitation bar damage under RCW 19.86.090 occurring within 4-year of filing litigation casually linked with a contract signed seven years back? If not, is a restraining combination and damage both within 4-year actionable? (Count 2 and Count 1 in parts).

Issue 3: Are the wage obligation under RCW 49.48 and RCW 49.52 created by a written employment contract subject to a 6-year statute of limitation

under RCW 4.16.040(1)? If not, does "account receivable" under RCW 4.16.040(2) apply to "account" as stated in RCW 49.48.010? (Count 7).

Issue 4: Does the claim for injury under RCW 9A.82.100(1)(a) from "Pattern of criminal profiteering activity" under RCW 9A.82.100(7) accrue on the discovery of the pattern not after the first but the third racketeering act out of three consecutive racketeering acts commissioned? (Count 10).

Issues presented here are connected to claims for the remedy for monetary damages involving material disputes needing jury trial. In WA, such right to a jury trial is protected by *WA const Art I Sec 21*. Also, WA consumer protection Act(CPA) and WA Wage Act are embedded with the public interest. Court of appeals opinion contradicts prior decisions of this Court. As discussed herein, the review of the Court of Appeals' decision should be accepted as the requirement of RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) (4) are met.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Over 20 years, Khalid and his team of 20 people added a total of 30,000 engineering hours that resulted in two issued patents 8,782,637("'637 patent") filed in 2010 and 8,286,219("'219 patent") filed in 2008. To date, the equivalent cost of labor and other investments exceeded \$7.1 million. Microsoft didn't invest a dime in the invention. On December 19, 2011, Khalid signed an Employee Agreement, CP 124-127,

and submitted a list "Inventionlist.docx" listing nine patents to be excluded from the Employee Agreement. Email records show Microsoft internally forwarded the invention list on December 19, 2011, CP 146-149. Khalid signed another Employee Agreement on January 9, 2012, during orientation when he disclosed his patents a second time. Khalid left Microsoft in February 2015. Around March 2015, Microsoft told Khalid it got ownership to '219 and '637 patent because Khalid didn't submit any exclusion list.

On May 27, 2016, Microsoft notified Khalid using a letter ("M&G letter"), CP 159-162, that Microsoft got ownership or exclusive license to '219 and '637 patents because Khalid didn't submit an exclusion list listing those patents to be excluded from Microsoft Employee Agreement. Microsoft further asserted it also got ownership of those patents through a vendor agreement with its partner Citrix. By doing so, Microsoft made the 2015 dispute over the exclusion list irrelevant because even if the exclusion list is found now, Microsoft asserted a new avenue through Citrix. Microsoft also told Petitioner he couldn't tell his investors Petitioner exclusively owned those patents, causing fear and threat of financial loss.

Before joining Microsoft in 2011, Khalid worked for Citrix Systems("Citrix). On October 25, 2011, Citrix claimed ownership to '219 and '637 patents. On October 2, 2015, Khalid filed suit against Citrix, and

on May 12, 2016, Citrix countersued Khalid (together "Khalid v. Citrix")¹ in the Federal District Court to claim ownership to those patents. On May 27, 2016, 2 weeks after Citrix's suit, Microsoft issued the M&G letter to help Citrix. Citrix engaged Khalid in an exhaustive patent ownership battle to help Microsoft, forcing Khalid and his team to spend \$2.8 million, an amount more than his lifetime take-home earnings and costing Khalid valuable patent term. Discovery will show Citrix didn't use Khalid's patent, refused Khalid's offer of \$50,000/patent license, and spent millions to drive out Khalid from effectively using his patents. On February 2, 2015, after leaving Microsoft, Plaintiff wrote to Microsoft, "I'll have to explore options if some Microsoft competitor would be interested in my ideas/IP if Microsoft route is closed". Microsoft's acts after 2015 were designed to restrict Khalid from using his patents freely. Khalid signed the Employee Agreement on December 19, 2011, and Microsoft started paying Khalid on January 8, 2012. Microsoft didn't pay for the three weeks per agreement though it enforced its Employee Agreement from December 19, 2011, and delayed vacation pay.

On January 28, 2019, Petitioner filed this suit at Trial Court. The trial court dismissed all claims under CR 12(b)(6). Court of Appeals

-

¹ Khalid v. CITRIX SYSTEMS, INC., Wash: Court of Appeals, 1st Div. 2020

reinstated five claims on unfair practices for concealing exclusion list, breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealings, and declaratory relief on contract and patent issue.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Court of appeals application of the statute of limitation in *Tortious Interference with Business Expectancy and Recovery* claim contradicts well-established principle set out by the WA Supreme court and legislator.

The trial court held, and the Court of Appeals affirmed tort-based claim accrued in March 2015 and became untimely in 2019 see opinion at 18. Court erred because Khalid couldn't have "appreciable damage" in March 2015 from a suit that Citrix didn't file until May 12, 2016, where Citrix used the M&G letter that Microsoft wrote on May 27, 2016.

On May 27, 2016, to help Citrix, Microsoft wrote the M&G letter two weeks after Citrix filed suit against Khalid. Microsoft interfered with Khalid's efforts to prosecute *Khalid v. Citrix* litigation, CP at 65-66 ¶¶ 103-107. M&G letter increased litigation cost, CP 55 ¶ 48. On May 27, 2016, using the M&G letter, Microsoft made additional ownership to Khalid's patent with a vendor agreement with Citrix starting a new tort with fresh damage. "As a general principle, a statutory limitation period commences, and a cause of action accrues when a party has the right to seek relief in the courts.", *First Maryland Leasecorp v. Rothstein, 72 Wn. App. 278, 282, 864*

P.2d 17 (1993); RCW 4.16.005("actions can only be commenced within the periods provided in this chapter after the cause of action has accrued"). "Actual loss or damage is an essential element...Until a plaintiff suffers appreciable harm ... he cannot establish a cause of action. ... the infliction of actual and appreciable damage will trigger the running of the statute of limitations. ", Gazija v. Nicholas Jerns Co., 543 P. 2d 338 - Wash: Supreme Court 1975; Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 281, 7 (1965).

And when the statute of limitation ran out, the equitable remedy is available, see *Millay v. Cam, 955 P. 2d 791 - Wash: Supreme Court 1998* (equitable tolling available when bad faith, deception, oppression or fraud are involved... "remand for a factual determination of whether equitable tolling applies"), *Antonius v. King County, 103 P. 3d 729 - Wash: Supreme Court 2004* (continuing violation within limitation period is tolled). "A patent for an invention is as much property as a patent for land", *Consolidated Fruit-Jar Co. v. Wright, 94 U. S. 92, 96 (1877) and* "continuing trespass damages are available from the beginning of the trespass, but no more than three years before the filing of the lawsuit", *Woldson v. Woodhead, 149 P. 3d 361 - Wash: Supreme Court 2006; Doran v. Seattle, 24 Wash. 182 - 1901.* The M&G letter shows new tort and raises material dispute on injury date. Microsoft's concealment of the exclusion list required equitable tolling when it asserted benefit on May 27, 2016.

B. The Court of appeals erred, ruling that the damage claim under RCW 19.86.090 accrue on the violation of RCW 19.86.030.

The trial could held, and the Court of Appeal affirmed CPA antitrust claim accrued on December 19, 2011, when Khalid signed the agreement because Khalid at that time knew the restrictive terms. Court erred because, on December 19, 2011, Khalid lacked private standing to bring suit unless he sustained CPA injury from those terms that occurred only after 2015.

1. The injury creates private standing for damage recovery under RCW 19.86.090, RCW 19.86.030 violation doesn't

RCW 19.86.030 and RCW 19.86.080 are modeled after Sherman Act Section 1 of 1890, empowering Attorney General to stop any anti-competitive practice. In contrast, RCW 19.86.090 is analogous to the Clayton Act of 1914, creating a private right to enforce WA CPA for private injury. The private injury here was central for standing purpose as plain text in RCW 19.86.090 states(bold to emphasis):

Any person who is injured in his or her business or property by a violation of RCW 19.86.020, 19.86.030, 19.86.040, 19.86.050, or 19.86.060, or any person so injured because he or she refuses to accede to a proposal for an arrangement which, if consummated, would be in violation of RCW 19.86.030, 19.86.040, 19.86.050, or 19.86.060, may bring a civil action in superior Court to enjoin further violations, to recover the actual damages sustained by him or her, or both, together with the costs of the suit, including a reasonable attorney's fee.

The plain text in the statute is unambiguous that only a person injured by CPA prohibited act gets private standing to recover his actual damage.

2. Alleged sufficient damage within 4 years of filing litigation

Khalid alleged that by applying the Employee Agreement on March 3, 2015, Microsoft asked Khalid to assign his patent to Microsoft, CP 52 ¶ 36. Khalid alleged a combination or conspiracy between Citrix and Microsoft through the M&G letter dated May 27, 2016, CP 53-54 ¶¶ 44-45, to hurt Khalid's patent. Microsoft and Citrix combination or conspiracy increased Khalid's litigation cost, CP 55 ¶ 48, and damaged recovery of \$27 million when Citrix used the M&G letter with false information in another litigation, CP 55 ¶ 52. Microsoft's acts occurring after 2015 damaged Khalid's patent right. Khalid didn't have any damage before 2015.

3. The 4-year statute of limitation under RCW 19.86.120 starts from the injury date, not from the violation date of RCW 19.86.030

In WA, "[a]ny action to enforce a claim **for damages under RCW 19.86.090** shall be forever barred unless commenced within four years after the cause of action accrues" RCW 19.86.120. "The four year statute of limitations permits adequate time for consumers to vindicate rights violated by unfair business practices", *McKee v. AT & T CORP.*, 191 P. 3d 845 - Wash: Supreme Court 2008. McKee further held contractual reduction of the statute of limitation would make WA CPA meaningless; "consumers would have far less ability to vindicate" their rights under the act. Microsoft Employee Agreement signing date can't reduce the CPA state of limitation.

4. Relevant federal law supports the above analysis

The federal antitrust statute of limitation 15 U. S. C. § 15b is analogous to RCW 19.86.120. In Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc., 401 US 321 - Supreme Court 1971, US supreme court analyzed 15 U. S. C. § 15b for "damages awarded to Zenith for the four years 1959-1963 were caused by pre-1959 conduct" of creating "patent pools" under the agreement. The US Supreme Court held that the statute of limitations did not bar the antitrust damage during 1959-1963 inflicted by the patent pool created pre 1959. This directly conflicts with Court of Appeals interpretation. US supreme court in Zenith Radio Corp further wrote:

HRI contends, and the Court of Appeals held, that the statute permits the recovery only of those damages caused by overt acts committed during the four-year period. We do not agree... In antitrust and treble-damage actions, refusal to award future profits as too speculative is equivalent to holding that no cause of action has yet accrued for any but those damages already suffered. In these instances, the cause of action for future damages, if they ever occur, will accrue only on the date they are suffered; thereafter the Plaintiff may sue to recover them at any time within four years from the date they were inflicted. Cf. Schenley Industries v. N. J. Wine & Spirit Wholesalers Assn., 272 F. Supp. 872, 887-888 (NJ 1967); Delta Theaters, Inc. v. Paramount Pictures, Inc., supra, at 648-649. Otherwise future damages that could not be proved within four years of the conduct from which they flowed would be forever incapable of recovery, contrary to the congressional purpose that private actions serve "as a bulwark of antitrust enforcement," Perma Life Mufflers, Inc. v. International Parts Corp., 392 U. S. 134, 139 (1968), and that the antitrust laws fully "protect the victims of the forbidden practices as well as the public," Radovich v. National Football League, 352 U. S. 445, 454 (1957). See also Lawlor v. National Screen Serv. Corp., 349 U. S. 322, 329 (1955).

RCW 19.86.920 requires this Court to be guided by federal precedent except when "language and structure of the CPA departs from otherwise analogous federal provisions", *State v. LG Electronics, Inc., 375 P. 3d 636 - Wash: Supreme Court 2016.* Microsoft Employee Agreement was commissioned outside a 4-year statute of limitations; however, Microsoft demanded Khalid's patent assignment on March 3, 2015, and again on May 27, 2016, causing injury; both are within 4-years.

5. Application of Statute of limitation would violate Supreme court's holding in *Sheppard v. Blackstock* and *WA Const. art. 12*, § 22.

In Sheppard v. Blackstock Lumber, 540 P. 2d 1373 - Wash: Supreme Court 1975, employee Sheppard during his 23 years employment, acquired a vested interest in a retirement plan. After termination, Blackstock notified Sheppard "by letter that continuation of his competitive activities would result in forfeiture of his undrawn share in the retirement plan", Id. Supreme court remanded for determining if the employer had any legitimate reason to get protection from Sheppard's post-employment activities and if the restraint was reasonable; a factual question of material facts. In Sheppard inquiry was focused on the forfeiture conduct. Here Petitioner alleged Microsoft's conduct of demanding a free patent through the M&G letter.

Microfot asserted Petitioner didn't submit a patent exclusion list that record shows Petitioner submitted. On May 27, 2016, to extend its patent ownership claim, Microsoft claimed Petitioner's patent through its agreement with Citrix. Federal law is similar. In *CVD*, *Inc. v. Raytheon Co.*, 769 F. 2d 842 - Court of Appeals, 1st Circuit 1985, the employer's postemployment conduct triggered antitrust liability.

If the Petitioner's antitrust CPA claim accrued on December 19, 2011, after December 19, 2015, Microsoft, without facing any antitrust liability, could write anything in the M&G letter to cloud Khalid's patent tile and conspire with Citrix. That defeats CPA primary purpose "that individual consumers will act as "private attorneys general," harnessing individual interests in order to promote the public good.", *Scott v. Cingular Wireless*, 161 P. 3d 1000 - Wash: Supreme Court 2007.

WA Const. art. 12, § 22 empowered WA legislator to enact WA CPA to prohibit anti-competitive conduct. WA Legislator created a private action in RCW 19.86.090 allowing someone to bring a lawsuit when he is injured from an act WA CPA prohibits. Here Petitioner was not injured by signing the Employee Agreement in 2011. However, he was injured in 2015, when Microsoft demanded Petitioner's patent applying the Agreement. His injury grew when Microsoft conspired with Citrix using the M&G letter. Barring

the claim would limit WA legislator's power under WA Const. art. 12, § 22 and violate the constitutional doctrine of Separation of Power.

C. Court of Appeals erred applying 3-year instead of the 6-year statute of limitation on wage under RCW 49.48 and RCW 49.52 created by the Employee Agreement.

Court of Appeals held the wage claim under RCW 49.48, and RCW 49.52 is three years and was payable from January 9, 2012, not from December 19, 2011, contradicting the Employee Agreement. Opinion at 19-20.

1. Wage started on December 19, 2011, as a matter of law per contract term, not from January 9, 2012.

Khalid, alleged Microsoft didn't pay for 3 weeks and delayed 2-week pay:

"Microsoft asked Plaintiff to sign Employment Agreement on December 19, 2011. Plaintiff started getting a salary from Microsoft on January 9, 2012. Microsoft later said the Employee Agreement was in force from December 19, 2011, not from January 9, 2012, therefore the agreement transferred all inventive services to Microsoft from December 19, 2011. Microsoft didn't pay for 3 weeks of services" CP 58 ¶ 68.

Khalid submitted an affidavit and supporting email records that Khalid wanted to sign Employee Agreement on orientation day, but Microsoft, on December 16, 2011, said, "Sign all now!", CP 119 ¶ 4. After termination, Khalid asked Microsoft for his employee records. Microsoft produced the Employee Agreement signed on December 19, 2011, CP 120 ¶ 10. Khalid was a salaried or exempt employee as backed by a written offer containing "Base Pay. Microsoft offers you a starting salary of \$145,000.00 per year..",

and "As a condition of employment at Microsoft, you will be required to sign an Employee Agreement". CP 164. Neither the offer letter nor the Employee Agreement suspends its enforcement until the orientation date. Khalid filed three patent applications on January 8, 2012. Microsoft refused to consider them outside the Employee Agreement, CP 119¶1.

Getting creative service or invention from an employee is considered to obtain "a mortgage on a man's brain", See, Aspinwall *Mfg. Co. v. Gill, 32 F. 697 3d Cir. 1887.* Microsoft takes a mortgage on Khalid's brain from the Employee Agreement's effective date, December 19, 2011. The Employee Agreement contained the phrase "and in consideration of the compensation **now** and hereafter paid to me", CP 124. Microsoft has explicitly and deliberately selected the word 'now' that starts the employment relationship immediately, now means as of this date or December 19, 2011, see *Sommerfeldt v. Union Painting Co., 356 P. 2d 601 - Wash: Supreme Court 1960*("now — as of this date"). The Employee Agreement created an obligation to pay from December 19, 2011, to receive brain or inventive service from Khalid.

2. RCW 49.48 and RCW 49.52 wage subject to the 6-year statute of limitations under RCW 4.16.040(1) or RCW 4.16.040(2).

Khalid's employment was backed by a written Employee Agreement with a written offer – "Base Pay. Microsoft offers you a starting salary of

\$145,000.00 per year, payable semi-monthly", CP 164. Those written instruments create wage obligation, *State v. Carter, 140 P. 2d 298 – 1943* ("wages which by statute, ordinance, or **contract** he is entitled to receive from his employer"). Therefore, Petitioner's wage is subject to the 6-year statute of limitation under RCW 4.16.040(1). RCW 49.48.010 reads:

"When any employee shall **cease to work** for an employer, whether by discharge or by voluntary withdrawal, the wages due him or her **on account of his or her employment** shall be paid to him or her at the end of the established pay period." (bold to emphasis)

The statute is clear that any wage obligation is due "on account of his or her employment" upon termination. That means RCW 49.48.010 makes the employee account setup for Khalid receivable by Khalid upon termination for Khalid's inventive service to Microsoft between December 19, 2011, and January 9, 2012. The 2007 amendment to RCW 4.16.040(2), House Bill 1145 2007, defined "account receivable" [strike through deletion and underlined from bill] [bold to emphasis]

The following actions shall be commenced within six years:

- (1) An action upon a contract in writing, or liability express or implied arising out of a written agreement.
- (2) An action upon an **account receivable** ((incurred in the ordinary course of business)). For purposes of this section, an account receivable is any obligation for payment incurred in the ordinary course of the **claimant's business or profession**, whether arising from one or more transactions and **whether or not earned by performance**.

Khalid's inventive service is a professional service incurred in regular business, and thus the wage fits "any obligation for payment" and is subject to six years statute of limitations under RCW 4.16.040(2).

3. Application of 3-year statute of limitation to contractually created wage contradicts WA supreme court holding in SPEEA.

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