# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/24/2021 4:21 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

## No. 99524-9

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# ATM SHAFIQUL KHALID, XENCARE SOFTWARE, INC., a Washington corporation,

Plaintiff-Petitioner

v.

MICROSOFT CORPORATION, a Washington Corporation,

Defendant-Respondent

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Heidi B. Bradley WSBA No. 35759 hbradley@bradleybernsteinllp.com BRADLEY BERNSTEIN SANDS LLP Attorneys for Microsoft Corp.

BRADLEY BERNSTEIN SANDS LLP 113 Cherry Street PMB 62056 Seattle, WA 98104 (206)337-6551

# **

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

The U.S. Supreme Court addressed the question of when an antitrust cause of action accrues in *Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc.,* 401 U.S. 321, 91 S. Ct. 795, 806, 28 L. Ed. 2d 77 (1971). As the Court held there, "[g]enerally, a cause of action accrues and the statute begins to run when a defendant commits an act that injures a plaintiff's business. *Zenith Radio Corp.* 401 U.S. at 338. In other words, it is the *commission of the act* (here, entry into the Employee Agreement)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Nor does *McKee v. AT&T Corp.*, 164 Wash.2d 372, 191 P.3d 845 (2008), support Khalid's argument. In *McKee*, the Court held only that parties could not agree to shorten a statute of limitations by contract. The Amended Complaint does not allege that the Employee Agreement purports to shorten the limitation time, and nothing about the Appeals Court's Order conflicts with *McKee*.

that triggers the running of the statute of limitations, not the date on which plaintiff claims a particular injury.

The Zenith Court recognized, however, that certain anticompetitive acts may be part of a "continuing conspiracy" to violate the antitrust laws, in which case, "each time a plaintiff is injured by an act of the defendants . . . the statute of limitations runs from the commission of the act." Zenith Radio Corp., 401 U.S. at 338. Even when plaintiff alleges a continuing conspiracy, however, an "overt act" by the defendant is required to restart the limitations period, and the statute runs from the last overt act. Id.

No "continuing" conspiracy is alleged here. Rather, Khalid argues that certain actions by Microsoft from 2015 through 2018 should re-start the running of the statute of limitations. PDR at 10. The Ninth Circuit in *Pace Industries, Inc. v. Three Phoenix Co.*, 813 F.2d 234 (9th Cir. 1987), examined the question of when additional "overt acts" restart the limitations period where the original challenged contract was entered outside the limitations period. "[T]wo elements characterize an overt act which will restart the statute of limitations: 1) it must be a *new and independent act* that is not merely a reaffirmation of a previous act; and 2) it must *inflict new and accumulating injury* on the plaintiff." *Pace Indus., Inc.,* 813 F.2d at 238 (emphasis in original).

Here, the correspondence from Microsoft's in house and outside counsel in 2015 and 2016 are simply reaffirmations of Microsoft's rights under the 2011 contract. They do not constitute new and independent overt acts that would restart the limitations period, and the Appeals Court's Opinion does not conflict with any statute or decision.

#### 2. The Restraint of Trade Claim Is Defective

Even if the claim were not time-barred, Khalid's challenge to the Employee Agreement does not give rise to a claim under RCW 19.86.030. The Appeals Court affirmed dismissal of a claim brought by Khalid under RCW 19.86.030 challenging an invention assignment provision included in a separate employment agreement with Citrix. *Khalid v. Citrix*, 15 Wash.App.2d 1043 (2020).

In *Khalid v. Citrix*, as here, Khalid argued that an unlawful invention assignment provision in an employment contract is analogous to a broad noncompete provision, which was held to constitute a restraint of trade in *Sheppard v. Blackstock Lumber Co.*, 85 Wash. 2d 929, 540 P.2d 1373 (1975). The Appeals Court concluded that "*Sheppard* does not control here" for several reasons, including that "the language of RCW 49.44.140 and corresponding case law indicate that the exclusive remedy for an overbroad invention assignment clause is reformation of the agreement, not a cause of action for unlawful restraint of trade." *Khalid v. Citrix*, 85 Wash. App. 2d at \*11-12.

Khalid's restraint of trade claim fails for additional reasons. *First*, the Amended Complaint alleges unilateral conduct exempt from Section 1 of the Sherman Act under *Copperweld Corp. v. Indep. Tube Corp.*, 467 U.S. 752, 769, 104 S. Ct. 2731 (1984) (internal agreement among single firm and its employees to implement firm's policies "does not raise the antitrust dangers that § 1 was designed to police.").

Second, Khalid's challenge to the contract provision does not state a claim for a per se antitrust violation. As the Court observed in *Khalid v*. *Citrix*, "the legislature has repeatedly identified conduct it deems to be per se CPA violations," and a violation of RCW 49.44.140 (governing invention assignment provisions) is not among them. 85 Wash. App. 2d at \*11 (*quoting Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.*, 105 Wash. 2d 778, 786, 719 P.2d 531 (1986)).

*Third*, to state a claim under the rule of reason, the Amended Complaint must also allege Microsoft has market power. *Ballo v. James S. Black Co.*, 39 Wash. App. 21, 28, 692 P.2d 182 (1984). It must further allege "that the challenged practice results in an actual injury to competition." *Murray Pub. Co. v. Malmquist*, 66 Wash. App. 318, 326, 832 P.2d 493 (1992). The Amended Complaint fails to do so, alleging only market share, with no allegation of injury to competition. "A mere showing of substantial or even dominant market share alone cannot establish market power." *Rebel Oil Co. v. Atl. Richfield Co.*, 51 F.3d 1421, 1439 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995).

Thus, *even if* dismissal statute of limitations grounds conflicted with the decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals, Khalid's challenge to the Employee Agreement does not give rise to a cause of action under RCW 19.86.030 as a matter of law. There is no significant question of law or issue of substantial public interest for the Court to address here. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

## C. There is no Basis to Review Dismissal of the RICO Claim (Count X)

The trial court dismissed Khalid's claim for criminal profiteering on the grounds that the Amended Complaint failed to allege a racketeering pattern. VRP 31:18-20. The Appeals Court affirmed on the alternative grounds that Khalid's criminal profiteering claim was time barred. Op. at 24. The dismissal was proper on either ground, and Khalid has not provided any basis for discretionary review.

#### 1. The RICO Claim is Time-Barred

Khalid seeks relief under RCW 9A.82.100, which provides a cause of action for a person who has been injured "by an act of criminal

profiteering that is part of a pattern of criminal profiteering activity," or by "leading organized crime" under RCW 9A.82.060. Such claims must be brought within three years "after discovery of the pattern of criminal profiteering activity or after the pattern should reasonably have been discovered." RCW 9A.82.100(7).

The Amended Complaint alleges that "Defendant Microsoft used overbroad employee agreement., [sic] It is ongoing; the overbroad Employee Agreement and uses of that overbroad Agreement by Microsoft equate to fraud and extortion to claim employee patents." CP 69. It further alleges that "Microsoft employed at least 3 employees (two recruiters who contacted Plaintiff Khalid initially, and Microsoft patent attorney Patrick Evans) to conduct its patent grabbing scheme." *Id*.

If the recruiters who initially contacted Khalid in 2010 were allegedly involved in the "patent grabbing scheme," along with the lawyer who corresponded with Khalid regarding his patents in 2015, then Khalid must have discovered the pattern of activity by 2015 at the latest. The Appeals Court agreed. "Khalid knew of the threats underlying this 'extortion' by March 2015, when Microsoft contended it owned his intellectual property and demanded that he execute a patent assignment document." *Op.* at 24. Khalid cites no decisions of this Court or any other

that conflicts with the Appeals Court's decision dismissing the RICO claim, and discretionary review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b).

### 2. The RICO Claim is Defective

Discretionary review is also unwarranted because dismissal was proper on the original grounds articulated by the trial court—namely, that the Amended Complaint fails to allege a racketeering pattern.

To state a cause of action under Washington's RICO statute, the Amended Complaint must allege "[1] that [Microsoft] committed an enumerated felony that [2] was part of a pattern of profiteering activity." *Trujillo*, 183 Wash. 2d at 838. A pattern of profiteering activity requires "[1] three or more acts of criminal profiteering [2] within a five-year period [3] that have specific similarities or are 'interrelated' with a 'nexus to the same enterprise."" *Id*.

The Amended Complaint itself does not enumerate the acts it claims form the basis of the profiteering scheme, beyond alleging that Microsoft employed a "patent grabbing scheme in at least 3 employee agreements" that constituted "fraud" and "extortion." CP 69. But regardless of how Microsoft's actions are described, neither the Employee Agreement nor Microsoft's lawyers' letters asserting rights under the Employee Agreement fit the set of "violent felonies and felonies relating to gambling, drugs, pornography, prostitution, extortion, and securities

fraud" that constitute Washington RICO predicates. *Winchester v. Stein*, 135 Wash. 2d 835, 850, 959 P.2d 1077 (1998). Thus, even if the claim were not time-barred, there is no significant question of law or issue of substantial public interest implicated by dismissal of Khalid's RICO claim. Discretionary review is not warranted.

## **D.** There are No Grounds for Review of the Tortious Interference Claims (Counts V and VI)

The Appeals Court affirmed dismissal of Khalid's tortious interference claims because they are time-barred. Khalid cites no cases or laws that conflict with this holding. Even if not time-barred, the allegations regarding tortious interference fail to state a claim, and dismissal of these claims do not present any issues of substantial public interest.

### 1. The Tortious Interference Claims are Time-Barred

"[T]he limitations period for a cause of action for tortious interference is three years, as specified in RCW 4.16.080(2)." *City of Seattle v. Blume*, 134 Wn.2d 243, 251, 947 P.2d 223 (1997). Count V in the Amended Complaint alleges a tort that accrued in 2015 when Microsoft's claim to own patents caused Mr. Khalid actual and appreciable damage. *See* CP 66 ("Microsoft caused unlawful business interference *by clouding the title of patents 219 and 637 in 2015* when Khalid was trying to create an IP incubation and licensing his startup.") (emphasis added). Because Khalid did not file his lawsuit until nearly four years later in 2019, the Appeals Court correctly held that this claim is time-barred.

In Count VI, Khalid separately alleges "Tort Impacting Full Damage Recovery." CP at 67. As the Appeals Court described this claim, "Khalid alleged that Microsoft's actions in sending the M&G letter in 2016 impacted his ability to fully recover in his suit against Citrix." Op. at 18. But the Appeals Court held "if Microsoft's assertion of rights to Khalid's '219 and '637 Patents was tortious, that act occurred in February 2015, and not in 2016." *Id.* Microsoft's outside counsel's 2016 letter merely repeated what Microsoft had told Khalid previously—it did not constitute a separate tort.

Khalid seeks to rescue these claims via equitable tolling or the "continuing tort" doctrine. PDR at 6. Neither applies here. With respect to equitable tolling, Microsoft never concealed its position first articulated in 2015 that it claimed a right to the patents at issue. And the continuing tort doctrine is limited to real property, not patents.<sup>2</sup> *Antonius v. King County*, 153 Wash.2d 256, 103 P.3d 729 (2004), which Khalid cites in support, specifically *rejected* application of that doctrine to hostile work environment claims. *Id.* at 269. Khalid cites no decisions of this Court (or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Consolidated Fruit-Jar Co. v. Wright, 94 U.S. 92, 96 (1877) does not hold that a patent is real property. The Court simply said, in dicta, that a patent "is as much property as a patent for land."

any other) that supports his contention that the limitations clock should reset each time he suffers additional injury arising out of the same tort. Discretionary review is not warranted.

#### 2. The Tortious Interference Claims are Defective

Even if not time-barred, the Amended Complaint does not allege the elements of tortious interference with a business expectancy. *See Pac. Nw. Shooting Park Ass 'n v. City of Sequim*, 158 Wn.2d 342, 351, 144 P.3d 276 (2006) (listing elements). Microsoft could not interfere with a business expectancy or cloud title to patents by the mere act of communicating with Khalid. *See* Restatement (Second) Torts § 766, cmt. h (Am. Law Inst. 1979) (describing intentional interference by communication with the third party).

Further, the Amended Complaint fails to allege a "prospective contractual or business relationship that would be of pecuniary value" and to show that his "future business opportunities are a reasonable expectation and not merely wishful thinking." *Greensun Group, LLC v. City of Bellevue*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 754, 768–69, 436 P.3d 397 (2019) (quotations omitted). This is particularly true with respect to Khalid's claim for "Tortious Interference With Full Damage Recovery." A jury trial is not a "prospective contractual or business relationship" about which Mr. Khalid could have "a reasonable expectation" for recovery. *Id.* 768–69. For all of these reasons, Khalid's

tortious interference claims would fail even if not time-barred, and review does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

# E. Review of the Wage Act Claim (Count VII) is Not Warranted

The Appeals Court affirmed dismissal of Khalid's claim for wrongful withholding of wages for failure to state a claim. Khalid argues both that his wage claim was properly pled, and that it is not time-barred.<sup>3</sup> Because it dismissed for failure to state a claim, the Appeals Court did not reach the question of whether Khalid's claim for wages from the 2010 period were time-barred, but it would have been in any event. There is no basis for discretionary review.

## 1. The Wage Claim for Pre-Employment Pay Fails

With respect to the claim for pay between December 19, 2011 (when Khalid signed his Employee Agreement) and January 9, 2012 (when he commenced work at Microsoft), the Appeals Court held the Amended Complaint fails to state a claim for wrongful withholding of wages. Op. at 20.

As the Appeals Court observed, Section 5 of the Employee Agreement provides for the assignment of inventions and the right of first

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Khalid appears not to challenge the Appeals Court's affirmance of dismissal of his wage claim for delayed payout of vacation pay following his termination. That claim is also time-barred. Op. at 21.

refusal only on inventions developed "during my employment with Microsoft." *Id.* at 11. As the Appeals Court explained, "the Employee Agreement's effective date is not the date he initially signed that document, but was his first day of employment with Microsoft." *Id.* Accordingly, "because the Employee Agreement did not confer any rights to Khalid's 'inventive services' before January 9, 2012, he fails to state a claim for wrongful withholding of wages for the December 19, 2011 to January 9, 2012 time period." *Id.* at 20.

Khalid does not identify a single court decision or question of law that would support the grant of discretionary review regarding dismissal of Khalid's wage claim from 2011.

### 2. The Wage Claim is Time-Barred

The Appeals Court did not reach the question of whether the claim for wages from the pre-employment period was timely, but it considered and rejected Khalid's argument that another claim for unpaid vacation wages upon his termination in 2015 should be subject to the six-year statute of limitations for contract claims under RCW 4.16.040(1). Op. at 20-21. The claim for wages from the 2010 period is time-barred for the same reasons.

The Appeals Court cited Seattle Professional Engineering Employees Ass'n ("SPEEA") v. Boeing Co., 139 Wash. 2d 824, 991 P.2d 1126 (2000) opinion corrected on denial of reconsideration, 1 P.3d 578 (Wash. 2000), in support of application of the three-year period. Op. at 21. In *SPEEA*, this Court applied the three-year limitation period to claims under the Minimum Wage Act seeking pay for attendance at a "preemployment" orientation session. As the *SPEEA* court held, though the written contract required attendance at the orientation session, "Boeing did not contract with the employees to pay for orientation; therefore, the sixyear statute of limitations set forth in RCW 4.16.040(1) for written contracts does not apply." *SPEEA*, 139 Wash. 2d at 837.

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